

Risk Factors Comparison 2024-11-21 to 2023-11-16 Form: 10-K

Legend: **New Text** ~~Removed Text~~ Unchanged Text **Moved Text** Section

Our operations are subject to many risks that could adversely affect our future financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows, and, therefore, the market value of our securities. The risks described below highlight some of the factors that have affected and, in the future, could affect our operations. Additional risks we do not yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial may also affect our business operations. If any of the events or circumstances described in the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Risks Pertaining to the Performance of Our Business If we fail to satisfy our contractual obligations or to meet performance standards, our contracts may be terminated, and we may incur significant costs or liabilities, including actual or liquidated damages and penalties, which could adversely impact our operating results, financial condition, cash flows, and our ability to compete for future contracts. Our contracts may be terminated due to our failure to satisfy our contractual obligations or to meet performance standards and often require us to indemnify customers for their damages. In addition, some of our contracts contain substantial liquidated damages provisions and financial penalties related to performance failures. **Although we have The policy coverage and limits in our** errors and omissions insurance, ~~the policy coverage and limits~~ may not be adequate to provide protection against all potential liabilities. Further, for certain contracts, we may post significant performance bonds or issue letters of credit to secure our performance, indemnification, and other obligations. If a claim is made against a performance bond or letter of credit, we may be required to reimburse the issuer for the amount of the claim. Consequently, ~~as a result of the above matters~~, we may incur significant costs or liabilities, including penalties, which could adversely impact our operating results, cash flows, financial condition, and our ability to compete for future contracts. We may also incur impairment costs on assets related to these contracts. If we fail to accurately estimate the factors upon which we base our contract pricing, we may generate less profit than expected or incur losses on those contracts. During fiscal year ~~2023~~ **2024**, we derived approximately ~~49~~ **55** % of our revenue from performance- based contracts and ~~15~~ **13** % from fixed- price contracts. For performance- based contracts, we receive our fee on a per- transaction basis or upon meeting specified milestones. These contracts include workforce services contracts in which we receive a payment ~~based on~~ **for performing an independent medical examination or placing a participant maintaining in sustained** employment for a specified time period. For fixed- price contracts, we receive our fee based on services provided. Those services ~~might~~ include operating a Medicaid enrollment center pursuant to specified standards, designing and implementing information systems or applications, or delivering a planning document under a consulting arrangement. To earn a profit on these contracts, we must accurately estimate the likely volume of work that will occur, costs, and resource requirements involved, and assess the probability of completing individual transactions or milestones within the contracted time period. If our estimates prove to be inaccurate, we may not achieve the level of profit we expected, or we may incur a net loss on a contract. Our growth initiatives could adversely affect our profitability. We may encounter start- up challenges, new compliance requirements, unforeseen costs, and other risks as we enter new markets, including managing our ramp- up, recruiting and retaining appropriately experienced and qualified employees, managing customer expectations, and appropriately budgeting and pricing new work. If we are unable to manage the risks of operating in these new markets, our reputation and profitability could be adversely affected. We may incur significant costs before receiving related contract payments, which could result in an increased use of cash and risk of impairment charges. From time to time, when we are awarded a contract, we incur significant expenses before we receive any contract payments. These expenses include leasing and outfitting office space, purchasing office equipment, developing internal- use software, and hiring personnel. In other situations, contract terms provide for billing upon achievement of specified project milestones. ~~In As a result, in~~ these situations, we are required to expend significant sums of money before receiving related contract payments. In addition, payments due to us from government agencies may be delayed due to billing cycles or as a result of failures by the government to approve governmental budgets in a timely manner. In addition to these factors, poor execution on project start- ups could impact us by increasing our use of cash. In certain circumstances, we may defer recognition of costs incurred at the inception of a contract. That deferral assumes we will be able to recover these costs over the life of the contract. To the extent that a project does not perform as anticipated, these deferred costs may not be considered recoverable, resulting in an impairment charge. ~~Our business could be materially and adversely impacted by pandemics, similar to the recent COVID-19 outbreak. We~~ **may also make broad investments** face various risks related to health epidemics, pandemics, and similar outbreaks. The COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted worldwide economic activity and resulted in **resources** travel and work restrictions, **such as technology** commercial disruptions, and affected companies' operations around the world. We were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, including operational disruptions and changes in working practices. If significant portions of our ~~or personnel~~ workforce are unable to work effectively, **to address new** including because of illness, quarantines, government actions, facility closures, or other restrictions in connection with an outbreak, our ~~or adjacent markets~~ operations will likely be adversely impacted. If our operations are materially restricted, we may be unable to perform fully on our contracts, and our costs may increase significantly. These **investments** cost increases may not be fully recoverable or adequately covered **recovered** by insurance **if we are unsuccessful in our entrance into these markets**. We face competition from a variety of organizations, many of which have substantially greater financial resources than we do; we may be unable to compete successfully with these organizations. We face competition from a number of different organizations depending upon the market and geographic location in which we are competing. Some of our most significant competitors are included in Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Many of these companies are international in scope, larger than us, and have greater financial resources, name recognition, and larger

technical staff. Substantial resources could enable certain competitors to initiate severe price cuts or take other measures in an effort to gain market share. In addition, we may be unable to compete for the limited number of large contracts because we may not be able to meet a Request For Proposal's ("RFP") requirement to obtain and post a large performance bond. **In some cases, competitors may choose to take greater risks or lower profit margins in order to enter a market or build market share.** Also, in some geographic areas, we face competition from smaller firms with established reputations and political relationships. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against our existing or any new competitors. We use third parties to assist us in providing services to our customers, and these third parties may not perform as expected. From time to time, we engage subcontractors, teaming partners, or other third parties to provide our customers with a single-source solution. ~~We~~ While we believe that we perform appropriate due diligence on our subcontractors and teaming partners, we cannot guarantee that those parties will comply with the terms set forth in their agreements or remain financially sound. We may have disputes with our subcontractors, teaming partners, or other third parties arising from the quality and timeliness of their work, customer concerns about them, or other matters. Subcontractor or teaming partner performance deficiencies could result in a customer terminating our contract for default. We may be exposed to liability, and we and our clients may be adversely affected if a subcontractor or teaming partner fails to meet its contractual obligations. Risks Pertaining to Data and Data Security Our development and use of emerging artificial intelligence ("AI") **involves risks such as potential liability, regulatory issues, competition, and reputational damage. AI technologies create specific risks that require tailored governance and use case specific review. Insufficient oversight could lead to legal liability, financial loss, and reputational harm. We use artificial intelligence (AI) to sort, organize, analyze, and generate data for business purposes. AI encompasses machine learning ("ML"), generative AI, and other standard techniques. The comprehensive lifecycle utilization of AI, whether implemented directly by us or in collaboration with third parties, will necessitate ongoing investment in governance and security resources to help ensure its responsible use of AI and to safeguard against potential risks and vulnerabilities. The use of AI carries considerable risks, and we cannot guarantee the achievement of intended outcomes. As an evolving technology, AI may occasionally produce incomplete or misleading results. Despite training and risk management efforts, there is a possibility that employees might misuse AI, either intentionally or unintentionally. Additionally, given the nature of our citizen-facing services, we are vulnerable to potential adversarial attacks. Should our AI generate suboptimal or contentious outcomes, or if public perception of AI shifts negatively due to perceived risks, we may encounter operational challenges, competitive disadvantages, legal liabilities, reputational harm, or other business impacts. AI-related legal and regulatory frameworks are evolving due to concerns about bias, discrimination, transparency, and security. The use of AI technologies creates unique involves issues associated with intellectual property, data privacy, consumer protection, competition, and equal opportunity, with potential for new regulations. AI is under review by U. S. Federal and State and international agencies, and the recent elections may influence the regulatory landscape in the United States. New or expanded AI laws could raise compliance costs and pose unpredictable risks requiring use case-specific governance. If we fail to establish and maintain sufficient oversight, potentially we face increased risk of negative outcomes which could expose us to legal liability, financial loss, and reputational damage. Applicable laws and regulations, both existing and forthcoming, often focus on AI/ML use when that technology is used to influence outcomes or make inferences about individuals, groups, or communities. These new and emerging technologies require use case-specific governance, with oversight that adequately addresses AI/ML-specific areas of concern, such as transparency, explainability, fairness, harmful bias mitigation, and unique third-party privacy and security risks. If we fail to establish and maintain sufficient oversight, which evolves at the rapid pace with which AI/ML technology is changing, we could be subject to sanctions under the relevant laws, breach of contract claims, contract termination, class action, or individual lawsuits from affected parties, negative press articles, reputational damage, and a loss of confidence from our government clients, all of which could adversely affect affecting our operations existing business, future opportunities, and results financial condition.** Our systems and networks are and have been subject to cybersecurity breaches. We are a trusted provider to government and other clients of critical health and human services that rely heavily upon technology systems, software, and networks to receive, input, maintain, and communicate participant and client data. The risk of a security breach, system disruption, ransomware attack, or similar cyber-attack or intrusion, including by computer hackers, cyber terrorists, or foreign governments, is persistent and substantial as the volume, intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks, intrusions and threats from around the world increase daily. If our systems or networks are compromised, we could be adversely affected by losing confidential or protected information of program participants and clients or by facing a demand for ransom to prevent disclosure of or to restore access to such information. The loss, theft, or improper disclosure of that information could subject us to sanctions under the relevant laws, breach of contract claims, contract termination, class action, or individual lawsuits from affected parties, negative press articles, reputational damage, and a loss of confidence from our government clients, all of which could adversely affect our existing business, future opportunities, and financial condition. Additionally, if our internal networks were compromised, we could suffer the loss of proprietary, trade secret, or confidential technical and financial data. That could make us less competitive in the marketplace and adversely affect our existing business, future opportunities, and financial condition. We have experienced cybersecurity incidents in the past that were immaterial, and in the third quarter of fiscal year 2023, we experienced a material cybersecurity incident as the personal information of a significant number of individuals was accessed by an unauthorized third party by exploiting a zero-day vulnerability in a **third-party vendor's** file transfer application used by many organizations, including us. We have recorded expenses in connection with ~~the our~~ investigation and remediation activities related to this incident, but we; **further details are unable to predict other potential liabilities or consequences that may arise from included in " Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies" in Item 8 of this incident Annual Report on Form 10-K.** ~~We~~ Despite our preventative and remediation efforts, we may continue to experience cybersecurity incidents in the future. **There can be no guarantee that our preventative and remediation efforts will be**

sufficient to protect the company's information systems, information, and other assets from significant harm and that future cybersecurity incidents will not have a material adverse effect on the company or its results of operations or financial condition or cause reputational or other harm to the company. For more information regarding our cybersecurity risk management, see "Item 1C. Cybersecurity" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Many of our projects handle protected health information or other forms of confidential personal information, the loss or disclosure of which has adversely affected, and in the future, could further adversely affect, our business, results of operations, and reputation. As a provider of services under government health and human services programs, we often receive, maintain, and transmit protected health information or other types of confidential personal information. That information may be regulated by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA") as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 ("HITECH"), Internal Revenue Service regulations, the European Union General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR"), or similar U. S. or foreign laws. The loss, theft, or improper use or disclosure of that information could subject us to sanctions under the relevant laws, breach of contract claims, class action or individual lawsuits from affected parties, negative press articles, and a loss of confidence from our government clients, all of which could adversely affect our existing business, future opportunities, and financial condition. For instance, as a result of the cybersecurity incident described above, several class actions and lawsuits have been filed. The resolution of these matters may result in damages, costs, fines or penalties, which may adversely affect our existing business, future opportunities, and financial condition.

Risks Pertaining to Our Client Relationships We obtain most of our business through competitive bidding in response to government RFPs. We may not be awarded contracts through this process at the same level in the future as in the past, and contracts we are awarded may not be profitable. Substantially all of our customers are government agencies. To market our services to government customers, we are often required to respond to government RFPs, which may result in contract awards on a competitive basis. To do so effectively, we must accurately estimate our cost structure for providing the required services, the time required to establish operations, and likely terms of the proposals submitted by competitors. We must also assemble and submit a large volume of information within an RFP's rigid timetable. Our ability to respond successfully to RFPs will greatly impact our business. There is no assurance that we will continue to obtain contracts in response to government RFPs, and our proposals may not result in profitable contracts. In addition, competitors may protest contracts awarded to us through the RFP process that may cause the award to be delayed, overturned, or require the customer to reinstate the RFP process. Even where we are an incumbent, our ability to secure continued work or work at similar margins may be affected by competitive rebids or contract changes and cancellations. If we do not win certain recompetes, this may adversely affect our revenues and profitability, potentially resulting in impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. Although it is difficult to track all the reasons for changes in our contracts, we believe that this contract erosion has typically affected approximately 7% to 10% of our business annually, with the erosion largely being replaced by new or expanded work elsewhere. Our business could be adversely affected by future legislative or government budgetary and spending changes. The market for our services depends largely on domestic and international legislative programs and the budgetary capability to support programs, including the continuance of existing programs. Many of our contracts are not fully funded at inception and rely upon future appropriations of funds. Accordingly, a failure to receive additional anticipated funding may result in early termination of a contract. In addition, many of our contracts include clauses that allow clients to unilaterally modify or terminate contracts with little or no recompense. Changes in state or federal government initiatives or in the level of government spending due to budgetary or deficit considerations may have a significant impact on our future financial performance. For example, regulatory steps taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States affected the level of work on many of our contracts. Similarly, increased or changed spending on defense, security, or anti-terrorism threats may impact the level of demand or funding for the health and human services programs that we operate. Many state programs in the United States, such as Medicaid, are federally mandated and fully or partially funded by the U. S. Federal Government. Changes to those programs, such as program eligibility, benefits, or the level of federal funding, including a government shutdown, could reduce the level of demand for our services, which could materially adversely impact our future financial performance. Government entities have in the past terminated and may, in the future, terminate their contracts with us earlier than we expect, which may result in revenue shortfalls and unrecovered costs. Many of our government contracts contain base periods of one or more years, as well as option periods covering more than half of the contract's potential duration. Government agencies do not have to exercise these option periods, and they may elect not to exercise them for budgetary, performance, or any other reason. Our contracts also typically contain provisions permitting a government customer to terminate the contract on short notice, with or without cause. Termination without cause provisions generally allow the government to terminate a contract at any time and enable us to recover only our costs incurred or committed and settlement expenses and profit, if any, on the work completed prior to termination. We may or may not be able to recover all the costs incurred during the start-up phase of a terminated contract. The unexpected termination of significant contracts could result in significant revenue shortfalls. If revenue shortfalls occur and are not offset by corresponding reductions in expenses, our business could be adversely affected. We cannot anticipate if, when, or to what extent a customer might terminate their contracts with us. If we fail to establish and maintain important relationships with government **officials**, entities and agencies, our ability to successfully bid under RFPs **and retain existing work and secure new work on future procurements** may be adversely affected. To facilitate our ability to prepare bids in response to RFPs **and retain existing work and secure new work on future procurements**, we rely in part on establishing and maintaining relationships with officials of various government entities and agencies. These relationships enable us to provide informal input and advice to government entities and agencies prior to the development of an RFP **and our capabilities to support government objectives**. We also engage marketing consultants, ~~including lobbyists,~~ **and other third-party consultants** to establish and maintain relationships with elected officials and appointed members of government agencies. The effectiveness of these consultants may be reduced or eliminated if a significant political change occurs. In that circumstance, we may be unable to successfully manage our

relationships with government entities and agencies and with elected officials and appointees. Any failure to maintain positive relationships with government entities and agencies may adversely affect our **business ability to successfully bid in response to RFPs**. Our customers may limit or prohibit the outsourcing of certain programs or may refuse to grant consents and / or waivers necessary to permit contractors, such as us, to perform certain elements of government programs. Governments could limit or prohibit private contractors like us from operating or performing elements of certain programs. Within the U. S., state or local governments could be required to operate such programs with government employees as a condition of receiving federal funding. Moreover, under current law, in order to privatize certain functions of government programs, the U. S. federal government must grant consent and / or waiver to the petitioning state or local agency. If the U. S. federal government does not grant a necessary consent or waiver, the state or local agency will be unable to outsource that function to a private entity, such as us. This situation could eliminate or reduce the value of an existing contract. We rely on key contracts with state, local, and federal governments for a significant portion of our revenue. A substantial reduction in those contracts would materially adversely affect our operating results. In fiscal year **2023-2024**, approximately **48-50%** of our total revenue was derived from the U. S. federal government, and approximately 37 % of our total revenue was derived from contracts with state and local government agencies. Any significant disruption or deterioration in our relationship with federal, state, and local governments and a corresponding reduction in these contracts would significantly reduce our revenue and could substantially harm our business. **In fiscal year 2024, approximately 55 % of our revenue came from our ten largest contracts. If any of our current significant contracts or significant contracts we enter into in the future were terminated or our work under those contracts was decreased, our revenues and net income could significantly decline. Additional potential impacts of the loss of a significant contract or contracts might include impairment charges over tangible assets and intangible assets, including our goodwill balance. Our success will depend on our continued ability to develop and manage relationships with significant customers and there is no assurance that we will be able to diversify our customer base in the near future, if at all. The markets in which we sell our products are served by a relatively small number of governmental agencies, which limits the number of potential customers. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to retain our largest customers, that we will be able to attract additional customers, or that our customers will continue to buy our services in the same volume as in prior years. The loss of one or more of our largest customers, any reduction or delay in sales to these customers, our inability to successfully develop relationships with additional customers, or future price concessions could impact our business.** Our contracts typically run for a fixed number of years and may be extended for an additional specified number of years if the contracting entity or its agent elects to do so. When these contracts expire, they may be opened for bidding by competing bidders, and there is no guarantee that the contracts will be renewed or extended. Our clients may elect to open bidding processes up earlier than anticipated, resulting in increased competition prior to the anticipated end of contracts. Our reputation and relationships with our clients are key factors in maintaining our business. Negative press reports or publicity, regardless of accuracy, could harm our reputation. If our reputation is negatively affected, our clients may decrease or cease business with us. In addition, we are subject to various reviews, audits, and investigations to verify our compliance with the terms of our contracts, as well as compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Any adverse review, audit, or investigation could result in, among other things, cancellation of contracts; refunding of amounts that have been paid pursuant to contracts; imposition of fines, penalties, and other sanctions; loss of rights to participate on various programs; loss of licenses; lowered quality ratings; or changes to the way we do business. In addition, under government procurement regulations and practices, a negative determination from a government audit could result in a contractor being fined, debarred, and / or suspended from being able to bid on, or be awarded new government contracts for a period of time. Within our U. S. Federal business, our ability to participate in many competitive bids in response to government RFPs is dependent on our Government- Wide Acquisition Contracts ("**GWACs**"), the most commonly used process by which agencies of the federal government purchase goods and services. Eligibility to remain on a GWAC changes over time. If we are unsuccessful and not awarded GWAC contracts, this would have a negative impact on future opportunities. A GWAC is a pre- competed, multiple- award, indefinite- delivery, indefinite- quantity ("**IDIQ**") contract that agencies can use to buy total IT solutions. All IDIQs, including GWACs, are regulated by the FAR, which sets forth rules and regulations that must be followed by federal agencies and providers of goods and services to the government in the procurement process. For instance, in 2018, Maximus Federal was named a recipient of the U. S. General Services Administration' s ("**GSA**") Alliant 2 GWAC. Alliant 2 is an unrestricted, IDIQ, multi- vendor award with a contract ceiling of \$ 50 billion. If we are unable to adapt to changing eligibility requirements for strategic GWAC competitions, we would risk losing access to related contracts and awards. Risks Related to our Acquisitions We may experience difficulties in integrating our operations with those of acquired businesses and realizing the expected benefits of these acquisitions. Our growth strategy includes a program to identify and execute acquisitions to enable long- term, sustainable, organic growth by continuing to expand the business, enhance our clinical and digital capabilities, and extend into new market areas. Although we anticipate that acquisitions will create long- term shareholder value, this expectation is based on assumptions about our acquisitions and preliminary estimates of their performance, which may change materially. The benefits of acquisitions depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate the acquired businesses and realize the anticipated benefits, including business opportunities and growth prospects from combining our businesses. We may not achieve these objectives within the anticipated time frame or may never realize these benefits, and the value of our common stock may be harmed. Integration of acquired businesses may result in material challenges, including, without limitation:

- Our management might have its attention diverted from ongoing business concerns while trying to integrate these operations, and we could experience performance shortfalls within our existing or acquired businesses as a result of the devotion of management' s attention to integration efforts.
- The integration process could take longer than anticipated and could result in the loss of key employees, the disruption of each company' s ongoing businesses, tax costs or inefficiencies, or inconsistencies in standards, controls, information technology systems, compliance requirements,

procedures, and policies, any of which could materially adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, employees, or other third parties, or our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the transactions, and could harm our financial performance. • We could encounter unanticipated issues in integrating information technology, communications, and other systems that could harm our financial performance. • If we are unable to successfully or timely integrate our operations with those of our acquisitions, we may incur unanticipated liabilities and be unable to realize the revenue growth, synergies, and other anticipated benefits, and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In connection with our acquisitions, we may be required to take write-downs, write-offs, restructuring, impairment, or other charges that could negatively affect our business, assets, liabilities, prospects, outlook, financial condition, and results of operations. ~~The~~ Although we conduct due diligence ~~we conduct~~ on our acquisitions, ~~this diligence~~ may not reveal all material issues that may be present, nor does it preclude factors outside of our control from arising later. ~~We have also purchased representations and warranties insurance policies in connection with certain acquisitions, but there~~ There is no assurance that ~~those~~ ~~our representations and warranties insurance~~ policies ~~that we purchase for certain acquisitions~~ will cover any losses we might experience from breaches of the sellers' representations and warranties or otherwise arising from the acquisitions. Even if our due diligence successfully identifies certain risks, unexpected risks may arise, and previously known risks may materialize in a manner not consistent with our preliminary risk analysis. We are required to identify the fair value of assets acquired, such as customer relationships and technology, using estimates that are based upon factors such as expected future operations and the manner in which we will utilize these assets, which may be inaccurate or may change post-acquisition. In addition, we have recorded \$ 1. 78 billion of goodwill at September 30, ~~2023~~ ~~2024~~. This balance represents the difference between the amount paid for acquisitions and the identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units, consistent with our segments, and is regularly reviewed to ensure that the value of those segments exceeds the carrying value of the assets held, including goodwill. If the carrying value of our assets, including goodwill, exceeds their fair value, we may be required to take write-offs, write-downs, restructuring, impairment, or other charges that could negatively affect business, assets, liabilities, prospects, outlook, financial condition, and results of operations. Risks Pertaining to Legal Compliance We are subject to review and audit by governments at their sole discretion and, if any improprieties are found, we may be required to refund revenue we have received or forego anticipated revenue, which could have a material adverse impact on our revenue and our ability to bid in response to RFPs. We are subject to audits, investigations, and reviews relating to compliance with the laws and regulations that govern our role as a contractor to agencies and departments of the U. S. federal government, state, local, and foreign governments, and otherwise in connection with performing services in countries outside of the United States. Adverse findings could lead to criminal, civil, or administrative proceedings, and we could be faced with penalties, fines, suspension, or debarment. Adverse findings could also have a material adverse effect on us because of our reliance on government contracts. We are subject to periodic audits by U. S., federal, state, local, and foreign governments for taxes. We are also involved in various claims, arbitrations, and lawsuits arising in the normal conduct of our business, including but not limited to bid protests, employment matters, contractual disputes, and charges before administrative agencies. We may be subject to fines, penalties, and other sanctions if we fail to comply with laws governing our business. Our business operates within a variety of complex regulatory environments, including but not limited to the FAR, Federal Cost Accounting Standards, the Truth in Negotiations Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (and similar national, state, and foreign laws), the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the United Kingdom Bribery Act, as well as the regulations governing Medicaid and Medicare and accounting standards. If a government audit finds improper or illegal activities by us or we otherwise determine that these activities have occurred, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines, and suspension or disqualification from doing business with the government. Any such determination could adversely impact our ability to bid in response to RFPs in one or more jurisdictions. Further, as a government contractor subject to the types of regulatory schemes described above, we are subject to an increased risk of investigations, criminal prosecution, civil fraud, whistleblower lawsuits, and other legal actions and liabilities to which other private sector companies are not, the result of which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, cash flows, and financial condition. Adverse judgments or settlements in legal disputes could harm our operating results, cash flows, and financial condition. From time to time, we are subject to a variety of lawsuits and other claims. These may include lawsuits and claims related to contracts, subcontracts, securities compliance, employment and wage claims, and compliance with Medicaid and Medicare regulations, as well as laws governing student loans and child support enforcement. Adverse judgments or settlements in some or all of these legal disputes may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive relief. In addition, litigation and other legal claims are subject to inherent uncertainties, and management' s view of these matters may change in the future. Those uncertainties include, but are not limited to, costs of litigation, unpredictable court or jury decisions, and the differing laws and attitudes regarding damage awards among the states and countries in which we operate. We may be precluded from bidding and performing certain work due to other work we currently perform. Various laws and regulations prohibit companies from performing work for government agencies that might be viewed as an actual or apparent conflict of interest. These laws limit our ability to pursue and perform certain types of work. For example, some of our businesses assist government agencies in developing RFPs for various government programs. In those situations, the divisions involved in operating such programs would likely be precluded from bidding on those RFPs. Similarly, regulations governing the independence of Medicaid enrollment brokers and Medicare appeal providers prevent us from providing services to other organizations such as health plans and providers. We may face liabilities arising from divested or discontinued businesses. We have divested a number of businesses. The transaction documents for those divestitures typically contain a variety of representations, warranties, and indemnification obligations. We ~~could have faced, and continue to face~~ , indemnification claims and liabilities from alleged breaches of representations or warranties. Risks Pertaining to our Human Resources We may lose executive officers and senior managers on whom we rely to generate business and execute projects successfully. The ability

of our executive officers and our senior managers to generate business and execute projects effectively is important to our success. The loss of an executive officer or senior manager, including those who joined us through acquisitions, could impair our ability to secure and manage engagements, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. We may be unable to attract and retain sufficient qualified personnel to sustain our business. Our delivery of services is labor-intensive. When we are awarded a government contract, we must quickly hire project leaders and operational staff. Some larger projects have required us to hire and train thousands of operational staff in a short time period. That effort can be especially challenging in geographic areas with low unemployment rates. The additional operational staff also creates a concurrent demand for increased administrative personnel. Our success requires that we attract, develop, motivate, and retain:

- experienced and innovative executive officers globally;
- senior managers who have successfully managed or designed government services programs; and
- information technology professionals who have designed or implemented complex information technology projects within and outside the U. S. Innovative, experienced, and technically proficient individuals are in great demand and are likely to remain a limited resource. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to attract and retain desirable executive officers, senior managers, and management personnel. Our inability to hire sufficient personnel on a timely basis or the loss of significant numbers of executive officers and senior managers could adversely affect our business.

Unions may oppose outsourcing of government programs to outside vendors such as us, which could limit our market opportunities and could impact us adversely. In addition, our unionized workers outside the United States could disrupt our operations, and our non-unionized workers could attempt to unionize, which could disrupt our operations and impose higher costs on us. Our success depends in part on our ability to win profitable contracts to administer and manage programs often previously administered by government employees. Many government employees, however, belong to labor unions with considerable financial resources and lobbying networks. Further, unions that have historically not represented government employees may seek to unionize our workforce. Unions have in the past applied, and are likely to continue to apply, political pressure on legislators and other officials responsible for outsourced government programs. Union activity in the United States has seen a resurgence in recent years. Maximus has been the subject of union-initiated press reports and walk-outs, work disruptions and other actions designed to promote union membership. Non-unionized workers at several of our U. S. locations initiate organizing efforts from time to time to unionize. Even if unsuccessful, such organizing efforts could be disruptive to our business operations and can result in adverse publicity. The potential for adverse media coverage ~~as the unions seek to discredit Maximus through their network~~ may have a negative effect on the willingness of government agencies to outsource or cause them to seek contract terms that could impact us adversely. A successful union organizing effort at one or more of our locations could substantially increase our costs and result in our inability to successfully re-compete for existing business. Outside the United States, we currently operate outsourced programs with unionized employees in the U. K. , and in the past we have operated programs with unionized employees in Canada. We experienced opposition from unions in Canada, which objected to the outsourcing of government programs. Our unionized workers outside the United States could declare a strike or could bargain in a manner that could adversely affect our performance and financial results.

General Risk Factors A number of factors may cause our cash flows and results of operations to vary from quarter to quarter. Factors that may cause our cash flows and results of operations to vary from quarter to quarter include:

- the commencement of new contracts;
- caseloads and other factors where revenue is derived on transactional volume on contracts;
- the levels of revenue earned and profitability of fixed-price and performance-based contracts;
- expenses related to certain contracts which may be incurred in periods prior to revenue being recognized;
- increasing rates of inflation, which may increase our costs of labor and other goods and services;
- the commencement, completion, or termination of contracts during any particular quarter;
- the schedules of government agencies for awarding contracts;
- government budgetary delays or shortfalls;
- the timing of change orders being signed;
- the terms of awarded contracts; and
- potential acquisitions.

Changes in the volume of activity and the number of contracts commenced, completed, or terminated during any quarter may cause significant variations in our cash flows and results of operations because a large amount of our expenses are fixed. Our profitability may be constrained by the effects of inflation. Demand for talent in certain elements of our business can be highly competitive. To the extent actual wage inflation exceeds our estimates or we are not able to incorporate wage increases in our contracts that cover the actual wage inflation we experience, our operations and financial results may be adversely affected. Our portfolio includes fixed-price, performance-based, and cost-plus contracts for which employment requirements are contract-specific, and have varying impacts to financial results. In cost-plus contracts, we work with our ~~customer~~ **customers** to come to ~~an~~ agreement for wage increases to meet the current demand and hiring needs, which generally does not impact profitability of these contracts. For fixed-price and performance-based contracts, large and / or sudden changes to the labor market may require us to hire talent at wage levels higher than budgeted, which can adversely impact results on what are often multi-year contracts. For example, our fixed-price and performance-based contracts typically include labor escalators but varying market conditions could require wage increases exceeding the priced escalators, which would adversely impact margins. This is one of many factors that may impact profitability on multi-year fixed-price and performance-based contracts. As contracts reach re-procurement milestones, we may have the ability to adjust our pricing to current and / or future expected market conditions. Our indebtedness could adversely affect our business and our ability to meet our obligations. At September 30, ~~2023~~ **2024** , we owed \$ 1. ~~3~~ **1** billion under our credit facilities. At September 30, ~~2023~~ **2024** , our effective interest rate was 5. ~~52~~ **52** %, compared to 5. ~~97~~ **97** %, compared to 4. ~~69~~ **69** % at September 30, ~~2022~~ **2023** . Our credit facilities are subject to variable rates that expose us to interest rate risk. When interest rates increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness increase even though the amount borrowed remains the same. Our indebtedness contains financial or other covenants that limit our operational flexibility in a number of other ways, including:

- causing us to be less able to take advantage of business opportunities, such as other acquisition opportunities, and to react to changes in market or industry conditions;
- increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic, industry, or competitive developments;
- affecting our ability to pay or refinance debts as they become due during adverse economic, financial market, and industry conditions; •

requiring us to use a larger portion of cash flow for debt service, reducing funds available for other purposes; • decreasing our profitability and / or cash flow; • causing us to be disadvantaged compared to competitors with less leverage; and • limiting our ability to borrow additional funds in the future to fund working capital, capital expenditures, and other general corporate purposes. Approximately half of our long- term debt is held at variable interest rates. ~~During fiscal year 2023, interest rates have increased and may continue to increase or remain at levels for over a decade higher than in the past.~~ **Interest rates in the United States are currently close to their highest increase or remain at levels for over a decade higher than in the past.** Higher interest rates have a detrimental effect on our profits and cash flows, as well as reducing the amount of cash we have available for servicing of debt or other transactions. ~~In fiscal year 2023, we may not be able to realize the full value of our backlog.~~ **At September 30, 2023-2024, we our total backlog was \$ 16. 2 billion. This represents an estimate of potential revenue from our existing contract portfolio. We may not be able to realize all of this backlog or accurately estimate the timing of revenue from this backlog for a number of reasons. • Our backlog may be dependent upon continued funding of our contracts, which may be subject to legislative or executive approvals. • Almost all of our contracts may be canceled at the convenience of our customer, or might otherwise be reduced, modified, amended, or delayed credit facilities to switch the benchmark rate from the London Interbank Offering Rate (“ LIBOR ”) to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“ SOFR ”). SOFR is a relatively new reference rate. • Many of our contracts include option years, has a very limited history, and which our customers may choose not to exercise. • Where revenue is based on upon factors tied to our performance, such as the number of transactions we perform, the quantity and type of personnel we provide, or the service penalties we incur, we may fall short of** term repurchase agreements backed by Treasury securities. Changes in SOFR can be volatile and difficult to predict, and there ~~can be no assurance that SOFR will perform similarly to the way LIBOR would have performed at any time.~~ **As a result, the amount amounts estimated within of interest we may pay on our credit facilities is difficult to predict current backlog and receive less revenue**. We are subject to the risks of doing business internationally. For the year ended September 30, ~~2023-2024, 14-12 % of our revenue was driven from jurisdictions outside the U. S.~~ **As a result, a significant portion of our business operations are subject to foreign financial, tax, and business risks which could arise in the event of: • foreign currency exchange fluctuations, including unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses which may become realized in the event of a disposal or abandonment; • unexpected increases in tax rates or changes in U. S. or foreign tax laws; • non- compliance with international laws and regulations, such as data privacy, employment regulations, and trade barriers; • non- compliance with U. S. laws affecting the activities of U. S. companies in international locations, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; • the absence in some jurisdictions of effective laws to protect our intellectual property rights; • new regulatory requirements or changes in local laws that materially affect the demand for our services or directly affect our foreign operations; • local economic and political conditions, including severe or protracted recessions in foreign economies and inflation risk; • the length of payment cycles and potential difficulties in collecting accounts receivable; • difficulty managing and communicating with teams outside the U. S.; • difficulty in maintaining our control environment, including controls over financial reporting; • unusual or unexpected monetary exchange controls, price controls, or restrictions on transfers of cash; or • civil disturbance, terrorism, or other geopolitical or catastrophic events that reduce business activity in other parts of the world. These factors may lead to decreased revenues and profits, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. • Our business could be materially and adversely impacted by natural or man- made factors outside of our control. We face various risks related to disruptions of our operations due to natural disasters, pandemics, global conflicts, and similar events beyond our control. Despite precautions and business interruption and disaster recovery procedures we currently have in place, we could face disruption to our operations due to the impact of natural disasters such as earthquakes, hurricanes, fires, floods, epidemics, pandemics and public health crises, and other catastrophic events such as terrorism, war, or global or regional economic, political and social conditions. For example, the COVID- 19 pandemic negatively impacted worldwide economic activity and resulted in travel and work restrictions, commercial disruptions, and affected companies' operations around the world. We were affected by the COVID- 19 pandemic, including operational disruptions and changes in working practices. If significant portions of our workforce are unable to work effectively, including because of illness, quarantines, government actions, facility closures resulting from a natural disaster or public health crisis, failures in key networks or communications systems resulting from a natural disaster, or other limitations or restrictions in connection with a natural disaster or public health crisis, our operations will likely be adversely impacted. If our operations are materially restricted, we may be unable to perform fully on our contracts, and our costs may increase significantly. These cost increases may not be fully recoverable or adequately covered by insurance**.

Inaccurate, misleading, or negative media coverage could adversely affect our reputation and our ability to bid for government contracts. Because of the public nature of many of our business lines, the media frequently focuses their attention on our contracts with government agencies. If the media coverage is negative, it could influence government officials to slow the pace of outsourcing government services, which could reduce the number of RFPs. The media also focus their attention on the activities of political consultants engaged by us, and we may be tainted by adverse media coverage about their activities, even when those activities are unrelated to our business. Moreover, inaccurate, misleading, or negative media coverage about us could harm our reputation and, accordingly, our ability to bid for and win government contracts. Our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws include provisions that may have anti- takeover effects. Our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws include provisions that may delay, deter, or prevent a takeover attempt that shareholders might consider desirable. For example, our Articles of Incorporation provide that our shareholders may not take any action in writing without a meeting. This prohibition could impede or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by requiring that any corporate actions initiated by shareholders be adopted only at properly called shareholder meetings.